71752-9

71792-9

RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Dec 05, 2013, 10:14 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

71752-9

No. 89256-3

RECEIVED

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FRED BINSCHUS, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of JULIE ANN BINSCHUS; TONYA FENTON; TRISHA WOODS; TAMMY MORRIS; JOANN GILLUM, as Personal Representative of the Estate of GREGORY N. GILLUM; CARLA J. LANGE, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of LEROY B. LANGE; NICHOLAS LEE LANGE, Individually; ANDREA ROSE, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of CHESTER M. ROSE; STACY ROSE, Individually; RICHARD

A. INTRODUCTION

Isaac Zamora was incarcerated in the Skagit County Jail from April 4, 2008, until his transfer to the Okanogan County Jail on May 29, 2008, where he was held until August 2, 2008. He was also incarcerated in the Skagit County Jail on August 5 and 6, 2008. The Judgment and Sentence upon which he was held required that his mental condition be evaluated and that he must comply with any treatment that was ordered. Despite the sentencing court's judgment, his lengthy history of mental health problems, and pleas from his mother and himself for mental health treatment, neither Skagit County nor Okanogan County properly evaluated Zamora's mental health nor provided him any mental health treatment during his incarceration, and his mental health deteriorated.

As a direct result of Zamora's deteriorating mental condition during his incarceration in both jails without proper treatment, Zamora became a violent risk to the community, a ticking time bomb. That time bomb went off. Isaac Zamora shot and killed 6 people and wounded 4 others on September 2, 2008.

Both Counties had a take charge duty and a duty under § 302B of the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* as to Zamora and consequently owed a duty to the plaintiffs, the estates of the people Zamora killed, and the individuals he wounded ("violence victims") in his spree of violence. The trial court erred in finding the Counties did not owe the violence victims a duty or that their breach of such duty did not result in the injuries to the violence victims.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- (1) Assignments of Error
- 1. The trial court erred in entering its order on summary

judgment on May 29, 2013.

• * - a

(2) Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Where counties incarcerate an inmate in their jails that they know has a long history of serious mental health problems and they have an obligation to evaluate him under his judgment and sentence and a general common law duty to provide him health care, but they then deny that inmate necessary evaluation or treatment, do the counties owe a duty of care to the inmate's victims when, upon his release, he engages in an act of untreated psychotic violence? (Assignments of Error Number 1)

2. Where counties provide some evaluation of jail inmate's deteriorating mental health condition but do not provide a proper evaluation or treatment of the inmate's mental health status, do the counties owe a duty to the victims of the inmate's later violence that was the result of his untreated deteriorated mental health condition? (Assignments of Error Number 1)

3. Where a duty exists as described above, did the trial court err in concluding as a matter of law that the counties' breach of their duty to the violence victims was not the proximate cause of the deaths and injuries by a mentally ill inmate they released without proper mental health evaluation and treatment? (Assignments of Error Number 1)

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As described below, prior to his incarceration by Skagit County in its Jail on April 4, 2008, Isaac Zamora had a long history of involvement with the criminal justice system and evidenced unambiguous signs of mental instability. Beginning in 1999, Zamora had been arrested 21 times in Skagit County and he had been incarcerated in the Skagit County Jail 11 times. CP 2651-52, 2655. Zamora had mental health issues dating back at least to 2000 when he experienced insomnia, paranoia, and anger. CP 2538. He was involuntarily treated for mental health issues in 2003 when he had hallucinations and was prescribed Seroquel, an anti-psychotic medication often used to treat schizophrenia. CP 2538.

Skagit County law enforcement officials were familiar with Zamora. CP 2852-53, 2859-60, 2865, 2917, 3105-29, 3160-62.¹ He was known to have serious mental problems; Zamora's CAD file² was tagged with a 220 alert code, meaning that Zamora was mentally unstable or "crazy." CP 2844, 2864, 3105, 3202. The purpose of the alert code was to

¹ Judicial officials were also aware of Zamora's mental health issues. On May 29, 2007, law enforcement officers filed a probable cause affidavit in Skagit County Superior Court regarding Zamora and a malicious mischief charge. CP 2639. Under the portion of the affidavit relating to the defendant's prior record, the affidavit listed: "Mental Health Issues." *Id.* The form asked, "Do you have any reason to believe Defendant has underlying mental health issues?" *Id.* The "Yes" box is checked. *Id.* At the bottom, the form says: "The jail staff will deliver the original to the court at the time of the preliminary appearance and a copy will be placed in the inmate's file." *Id.*

² In order to keep track of deputies in the field, Skagit 911, the entity that coordinates the dispatch of all police, fire and emergency services in Skagit County, operated a computer-aided dispatch ("CAD") system. CP 3185.

forewarn deputies of particular dangers involving individuals with whom they may come in contact; a 220 or mental health alert code identified an unstable person and alerted the deputies to be careful. CP 2843-44, 2864, 3105, 3202. Zamora's arrest history and alert code were readily available to all Skagit County sheriff deputies via the CAD system that could be accessed from the computers in the deputies' squad cars. CP 2845.

Skagit 911 and its dispatchers were aware that Zamora had mental problems:

Q: Did you tell Jem Meehan when you did the pass down that this involved -- that Isaac Zamora had some mental problems?

A: I don't remember if I mentioned that or not specifically, but we were all aware of it, as were the deputies.

- Q: You were aware that --
- A: Right.

- Q: -- Isaac Zamora had mental problems?
- A: All of us were.
- Q: Why was that?

A: Because he had a history of other calls and he was flagged, I believe. The call was for a mental, I believe. He had a 220 alert in our Spillman [CAD] system, which means mental. Q: When you say that everybody knew because of other calls, had you had other calls regarding Isaac Zamora?

A: There had been calls about him. I don't know that I took them specifically, but I was aware of him and that he was mental.

CP 3201.³

Skagit County Jail officials knew of Zamora's mental health issues. While incarcerated at the Jail, Zamora was housed in C-Pod, the section of the jail for inmates who were dangerous, assaultive, or have mental health problems. CP 2581, 2899. While incarcerated in the Skagit County Jail, Zamora's aggressiveness, anger, volatility, and dangerousness were noted to and acknowledged by Jail staff. CP 2408, 2410, 2412, 2414.

Zamora was arrested for, and pleaded guilty to drug possession on May 8, 2008. CP 2420. The Skagit County Superior Court's Judgment and Sentence sentenced Zamora to six months of confinement and twelve months of community supervision; the court ordered that Zamora undergo a mental health evaluation and further ordered that he must comply with all treatment recommendations. CP 3693, 3694. Despite the court's directive, Zamora was never actually seen or evaluated by a physician, psychiatrist, or psychologist at the Skagit County Jail. CP 2533, 2539.

³ Kruger further testified that "[t]here were calls about him. There was a call that day. His name screen was flagged as a mental, which is a 220." CP 3202.

After Zamora's incarceration in the Skagit County Jail that commenced on April 4, 2008, Denise Zamora, Isaac's mother, called the Jail on April 7, 2008 and requested that her son see a mental health counselor. CP 3681. She indicated that she felt he was bipolar and was "aggressive [and] has anger problems." CP 3681. She said that she and her husband were in fear of Isaac and that he was destroying the family. *Id.* "She begged that he stay in jail for a long time and get mental help." *Id.* Mrs. Zamora made at least *five* requests of County officials for mental health treatment for her son. CP 2591-93, 2928, 2930.

Zamora requested mental health treatment at least three times. Responding to a request from Zamora himself, Stephanie Inslee, a mental health worker who contracted with the Jail to provide mental health services, saw Zamora and on April 11, 2008 and wrote:

Persecutorial thoughts, easily moved into rageful thinking, pressured speech, feels victimized by just about everyone in his world. ... Sounds like panic attack. He needs something! Recommend beginning Lamictal. He is paranoid about poison and not messing with his brain. Can a person in medical please meet with him if meds are approved and address his fears.

CP 3685. On April 14, 2008, a physician approved the Lamictal prescription. Id.⁴

· ·

⁴ Lamictal is prescribed for seizure disorders and is used as a mood stabilizer. It is not an anti-psychotic drug, but its prescription should have put jail personnel on notice that Zamora's use of it indicated he had mental health issues. CP 2539.

On April 25, 2008, Zamora again requested to be seen by a mental health professional. CP 3687. A contractor, Cindy Maxwell, responded and reported that Zamora appeared "upset, easily angered [and had] rambling style speech." CP 3687. Maxwell apparently only asked Zamora if he would like a contact from mental health staff; she did not ask a psychologist or psychiatrist to assess Zamora. CP 2539.

Subsequently, Zamora submitted another mental health request stating that he wanted to see a mental health worker because he "keep[s] seeing black dots and white flashes." CP 2958. He saw monsters and demons out the window of his room and believed his bed to be electrified. CP 2540. During April and May, Zamora's mother contacted the Skagit County Jail and requested mental health help for her son at least five times. CP 2591-93, 2928, 2930.

While in the Skagit County Jail, the staff there wrote Zamora up for a series of inappropriate behaviors. CP 2462, 2464, 2467, 2469-71.⁵

By a contractual arrangement between Skagit and Okanogan County,⁶ Zamora was transferred on May 29, 2008 to the Okanogan

. .

. .

⁵ Zamora was also involved in an altercation with another inmate who purportedly assaulted Zamora. CP 2464. The other inmate explained to Jail staff that Zamora's conduct when he and Zamora were previously in the infirmary together prompted the retaliatory assault, stating "that man [Zamora] cut me in the infirmary what else could I do." *Id*.

⁶ The contract between Okanogan and Skagit Counties paid Skagit County \$40 per day to house Zamora. CP 3134.

County Jail. CP 5678. The contract required Skagit County to provide Okanogan County "a copy of all inmate records pertaining to the inmate's present incarceration at the Skagit County Jail," CP 3135, but when Skagit County transferred Zamora to Okanogan County, it withheld all of the records concerning Zamora's mental health, with the exception of a single mention of Lamictal in a medication log. CP 3146-51. Inexplicably, Skagit County culled Zamora's file⁷ and sent only 5 pages of medical records to Okanogan County, none of which described Zamora's mental health problems. CP 3146-51.⁸

⁸ Those records were:

(1) A radiology report dated April 22, 2008 regarding Zamora's injured clavicle;

(2) The Skagit Medication log for the month of May, showing that Isaac Zamora was taking Hydrocodone, Lamictal, and Naproxen;

⁷ The registered nurse at the Skagit County Jail charged with sending Zamora's records to Okanogan County testified that she sent only the most recent medical records from the past two weeks prior to his transfer. CP 2912-13. She said that the Skagit County Jail provided no written guidelines regarding what to send to Okanogan County, and that the system was set up to send only the most recent medical records. CP 2914. Notably, the records sent did not only relate to the 2 weeks prior to Zamora's transfer to Okanogan; there was information from time periods prior to the 2 weeks before Zamora's transfer. CP 3146-51. Not all records pertaining to medical issues in the 2 weeks before Zamora's transfer were included in the information sent to Okanogan County (i.e. the mental health request slip dated May 18, 2008 where Zamora reports "seeing black dots and white flashes."). CP 2958.

⁽³⁻⁴⁾ An inmate medical history dated May 29, 2008 with notes going back to March 19, 1999, that made no mention of any seizures; and

⁽⁵⁾ A handwritten note dated May 7, 2008 regarding his clavicle and request for pain medication.

If Okanogan County had requested more information from Skagit County, and if it then received the documentation available from Skagit County, it may not have agreed to house Zamora at all. CP 3138.⁹

The records provided by Skagit to Okanogan did reference Zamora's use of Lamictal, a prescription drug; CP 3148, and when Zamora arrived at Okanogan, he had a bubble-pack of Lamictal in his personal belongings. CP 2539, 2907.¹⁰ But Okanogan County did not seek the background of what occurred with Zamora while he was at the Skagit County Jail, nor did it inquire why he was prescribed Lamictal. CP 2533-34. Kevin Mallory, the physician's assistant at the Okanogan Jail (who was the highest level medical professional who saw Zamora at Okanogan

- ⁹ Noah Stewart, the Okanogan County Chief Corrections Deputy, testified:
- Q: If there were known psychiatric issues for an inmate, would Okanogan County take that inmate?
- A: No.

....

CP 2395. The contract allowed Okanogan County "to refuse to accept any inmate from Skagit County who, in the judgment of Okanogan County, has a current illness or injury which may adversely affect the operations of the Okanogan County Jail." CP 3138.

¹⁰ The violence victims' psychiatric expert, Dr. Csaba Hegyvary, testified that the fact that he arrived with a bubble-pack of Lamictal should have alerted Okanogan County that it should have looked further into Zamora's background - i.e., why he was prescribed Lamictal. "Provision of Lamictal to an inmate without an underlying seizure disorder *does* put subsequent treatment providers on notice that the inmate has mental health issues." CP 2539 (emphasis in original).

CP 3149-50. Skagit County did not advise Okanogan County of Inslee's conclusions, the contact from Zamora's mother, the fact that Zamora was housed in C-Pod, Zamora's request for mental health treatment, or that he had engaged in inappropriate behaviors.

and who is not a trained mental health professional) did not seek more information from Skagit regarding why Skagit had prescribed Lamictal before discontinuing this medication. CP 2536-37, 2539-40.

Okanogan County's nurse assistant, Miranda Evans, testified that, at a bare minimum, the transfer of medical information packet from Skagit County should have contained "whatever medication that [the inmate was] prescribed -- prescribed to take daily and *the reasoning behind it.*" CP 2383-84 (emphasis added). Skagit County's transfer form did not include even this most basic information. CP 2447-52.

All medications that come into Okanogan County Jail with an inmate are logged into a computer upon an inmate's arrival. CP 2907. But, when Zamora arrived with a bubble-pack of Lamictal, contrary to Okanogan County's customary practice, the Lamictal was not logged into the computer because Mallory instructed Evans not to do so. CP 2383-87, 2907.¹¹

On the morning after Zamora arrived, he was seen by Mallory. CP 2907. Mallory never conducted a mental health evaluation for Zamora. CP 2539-40. It is the regular practice at the Okanogan County Jail that if a medication were discontinued they would "document everything so that

. .

¹¹ In addition to not entering the Lamictal into the medication log on the computer, Okanogan County did not document the Lamictal or note any discussion of mental health in any of its chart notes, or anywhere else. CP 3504, 3700, 3706.

we usually can look back in the files if we need to know why we didn't set up a medication or not." CP 2387. Specifically, there would be some documentation that the inmate arrived with medication; but, that it was not being given. CP 2387-88. Generally, while Okanogan County documented medical conditions or treatment, CP 2383, the County's chart note on Zamora is silent regarding the Lamictal or his mental health. CP 2504.

The Okanogan County Jail's practice was that a medical doctor reviewed 10% of the inmates seen on "med call" each month. CP 2382. Notably, "anything that was psychiatric at that time was selected for [the MD's] review." CP 2382.¹² Since Mallory directed that Zamora's Lamictal was not to be logged in the computer and there was no chart note, there was no record that Zamora came in with the Lamictal, CP 2388, and no way for a physician to review Zamora's records and his psychiatric state. CP 2388, 2540.

During the time Zamora was in the Okanogan County Jail, he believed the jailers were trying to poison him and that they could control him by sending rays through the walls. CP 2540. He saw frightening

¹² Okanogan County did not screen for mental health issues beyond asking inmates if they had mental health issues. CP 2385. Notably, there was no cost to Okanogan County for making a call to Okanogan Behavioral Health. CP 2393.

images on the walls of the jail and believed the corrections officers there were making those images appear. *Id.*

Zamora received no treatment for his mental health condition at the Okanogan County Jail. CP 2539.

Zamora was released from the Okanogan County Jail on August 2, 2008. CP 2541. Zamora's psychiatric condition, untreated in either Jail, became significantly worse. CP 2541. His hallucinations were more intense and his mood swings more violent. *Id.* He believed people around him were evil; he spoke of God and his obligation to carry out God's will. *Id.*

Less than a month before the shootings and shortly after his release, on August 5, 2008, Deputy Larry Yonally and another deputy were dispatched to remove Zamora from his parents' property because of fears expressed by Denise Zamora arising from Isaac's aggressive and angry outbursts. CP 2568. In a telephone conversation that day, Denise Zamora told Yonally that her son had mental issues and was acting aggressive and angry towards family members. CP 2568. She told Yonally that she did not feel comfortable with Zamora in the home and that "Isaac is suffering from undiagnosed and untreated mental illness and ... has been a problem for some time." CP 2860.

While at the Zamora residence, Yonally learned of an outstanding warrant for Isaac Zamora and arrested him. CP 2569. While waiting to be processed at the Skagit County Jail, Zamora acted out, pounding the walls of the holding room. CP 2465. Nevertheless, Zamora was released on his own recognizance on August 6, 2008. CP 2655.

On September 1, 2008, a Zamora neighbor, Theo Griffeth, called authorities to report an incident with Isaac. CP 2851. Griffeth was on his way home from an outing on September 1 when he saw Zamora walking up the road near his house in a very agitated manner. CP 2852. According to Griffeth, Zamora was acting mad, his fists were clenched and he did not look up when he passed. *Id.* He was staring at the ground and was mad. *Id.* He had a gait or a walk of a "gorilla," "stiff legged." CP 2852.

When Griffeth got to his driveway, he saw that a sign had been ripped off the gate and became concerned because his wife had just arrived home. CP 2852. His wife was unharmed, but reported on a strange person who had come up to her and said "Who are you?" and when she answered, he said, "I know everyone around here . . . no one's here, there's not supposed to be anyone here." CP 2852.¹³

- e - *

¹³ Griffeth described his observations of Zamora over the preceding months: "I think that there's something going on up there that ain't quite right. . . ."); CP 2851.

Griffeth sensed "something wrong with the kid," and he wanted protection. CP 2852. He asked that a deputy be dispatched to his home, hoping Zamora would be arrested and get "some help." CP 2853. Three officers were dispatched to the Griffeth residence in response to Griffeth's call. CP 2854.

When Deputy Anne Jackson arrived at Griffeth's house, Griffeth described Zamora to her. CP 2853. He told her that Zamora was crazy and that something had changed in him and you could just see it and sense it. CP 2853. He told Jackson to be careful, "[t]his kid is ... he's over the edge." CP 2853.

That same day, Zamora was seen by a psychologist in the parking lot of the Alger Bar & Grill at his father's insistence so that he could qualify for DSHS assistance. CP 2541. When Silverio Arenas, Ph.D. met Zamora -- even with Zamora being *extremely* uncooperative -- he was able to correctly diagnose Zamora with a rule-out diagnosis of "psychotic disorder with paranoid tendencies." *Id.*; CP 2404.¹⁴

1 g *

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