71752-9 No. 89256-3 RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Feb 05, 2014, 10:41 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

FRED BINSCHUS, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of JULIE ANN BINSCHUS, et al.,

Appellants,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS; SKAGIT EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS CENTER, dba "Skagit 911," an interlocal government agency,

Defendants,

and

SKAGIT COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Washington; and OKANOGAN COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Washington,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SKAGIT COUNTY

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

above. CP 3323-24; 2676-2680; 2042-47. They did **not** assert § 302B as a basis for a duty regarding the Jail. RAP 2.5(a) provides that this Court may refuse to review a claim of error "which was not raised in the trial court." See, Sourakli v. Kyriakos, Inc., 144 Wn. App. 501, 509, 182 P.3d 985 (2008), review denied, 165 Wn.2d 1017, 199 P.3d 411 (2009) ("An argument neither pleaded nor argued to the trial court cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.") Because this argument was not raised in the trial court, it should not be considered for the first time on appeal.

5. Restatement § 302B does not create a duty when Skagit County did not act affirmatively to create a new danger.

Even if this Court considers the appellants § 302B argument for the first time on appeal, that section does not create a duty in this case.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 302B (1965) provides:

An act or an omission may be negligent if the actor realizes or should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to another through the conduct of the other or a third person which is intended to cause harm, even though such conduct is criminal.

Appellants point specifically to comment e as applying here.

The Restatement provides the following illustration of comment

Appellants did raise § 302B in connection with the actions of a Skagit County Deputy on the day of the shootings, but the summary judgment granted on that claim has not been appealed.

e's applicability:

The A Company makes a business of conducting tourists through the slums of the city. It employs guards to accompany all parties to protect them during such tours. B goes upon such a tour. While in a particularly dangerous part of the slums the guards abandon the party. B is attacked and robbed. The A Company may be found to be negligent toward B.

Id., illustration A.3 under comment e.

Appellants argue that Skagit County's failure to conduct what they contend was a proper mental health evaluation can result in a duty under this section and comment e. *Brief of Appellants*, pg. 34. However, there is no evidence Skagit County expressly or impliedly agreed to protect the appellants in this case, as described in the illustration.

Furthermore, this Court has limited application of § 302B to affirmative acts that create a new danger, not an alleged failure to remove or ameliorate a potential danger. The first case in which this Court analyzed the application of § 302B to a claim of government liability was in *Robb v. Seattle*, 176 Wn.2d 427, 295 P.3d 212 (2013). In that case the plaintiff's decedent was killed by a man named Samson Berhe, and it was alleged that Seattle police "acted negligently by failing to pick up and remove shotgun shells lying near Samson Berhe after stopping him on suspicion of burglary. After the stop, Berhe returned to retrieve the

cartridges, and shortly thereafter used one of them to kill Michael Robb."

Id. at 429. The issue before the Court was whether Restatement (Second)

of Torts § 302B created a duty to protect Robb against the "criminal acts of a third party." Id.

The Court explained that "as a general rule, 'in the absence of a special relationship between the parties, there is no duty to control the conduct of a third person so as to prevent him from causing harm to another." Id. at 433. (Internal citation omitted). The Court noted, "[u]ntil now, our cases involving a duty to protect a party from the criminal conduct of a third party have fallen into one of two categories: where there is a special relationship with the victim or where there is a special relationship with the criminal." Id. (internal citation omitted) "However, we have also recognized under Restatement § 302B that a duty to third parties may arise in the limited circumstances that the actor's own affirmative act creates a recognizable high degree of risk of harm." Id.

The Supreme Court has never found a duty "to protect a third party from the criminal acts of another absent a special relationship" but the Court of Appeals has applied § 302B in *Parrilla v. King County*, 138 Wn. App. 427, 157 P.3d 879 (2007), which involved the following allegations:

On August 28, 2002, an altercation erupted between

two passengers on a King County Metro bus as it was traveling on MLK in Seattle. In an attempt to quell the altercation, the driver of the bus pulled over to the curb and ordered all of the passengers to disembark. . . . The two individuals involved in the altercation eventually left the bus. The driver then re-entered the bus, approached Carpenter, and again ordered him to disembark. Carpenter began exhibiting bizarre behavior, including acting as if he were talking to somebody outside of the vehicle although nobody was there, yelling unintelligibly, and striking the windows of the bus with his fists. After observing Carpenter's behavior for several minutes, the driver exited the bus a second time, again leaving the engine running with Carpenter on board. Carpenter then moved into the driver's seat of the idling 14-ton bus and drove it down MLK before crashing into several vehicles, including that of the Parrillas.

Id. at 430-31.

On review of a CR 12(c) motion to dismiss, the Court of Appeals held that "a duty to guard against a third party's foreseeable criminal conduct exists where an actor's own affirmative act has created or exposed another to a recognizable high degree of risk of harm through such misconduct, which a reasonable person would have taken into account."

Id. at 439. As the Court noted, "it is an affirmative act, rather than a failure to act, that is at issue. The bus driver affirmatively acted by leaving Carpenter alone on board the bus with its engine running."

Id. at 438. The plaintiffs alleged, that "an instrumentality uniquely capable of causing severe injuries was left idling and unguarded within easy reach of

a severely impaired individual. The bus driver was aware of these circumstances." The Court held, "[a]ssuming the truth of these averments, the bus driver's affirmative act created a high degree risk of harm through Carpenter's misconduct, which a reasonable person would have taken into account." *Id.* at 441 (emphasis added).

Absent the affirmative creation of a new and recognized risk, cases in Washington have **rejected** the application of § 302B. See, Hutchins v. v. 1001 Fourth Ave. Assoc., 116 Wn.2d 217, 230, 802 P.2d 1360 (1991) (a landowner is not liable for a trespasser's perpetration of a criminal act against a noninvitee on the owner's land under § 302B); Kim v. Budget Rent A Car Systems, Inc., 143 Wn.2d 190, 193, 15 P.3d 1283 (2001) (Court declined to impose a duty under § 302B where a person stole an unlocked minivan belonging to Budget that had the keys left in the ignition.)

Thus, the "relevant provision of Restatement § 302B comment e requires an affirmative act which creates or exposes another to a situation of peril. Foreseeability alone is an insufficient basis for imposing a duty." *Id.* In other words, "the bus driver in *Parrilla* left his keys in the ignition of a bus, leaving the engine running and leaving a crazed individual alone on the bus. The court there found the driver's affirmative

act of getting off the bus and leaving the engine running with an erratic passenger alone on board exposed motorists to a recognizable high degree of risk that a reasonable person would have foreseen, imposing on the county a duty of care to the injured motorists to guard against the man's criminal conduct." *Id.*

Turning to the case before it, the *Robb* court distinguished *Parilla* and explained:

The difference between this case and *Parrilla* is the distinction between an act and an omission. . . . Thus, under § 314, an actor might still have a duty to take action for the aid or protection of the plaintiff in cases involving misfeasance (or affirmative acts), where the actor's prior conduct, whether tortious or innocent, may have created a situation of peril to the other. Liability for nonfeasance (or omissions), on the other hand, is largely confined to situations where a special relationship exists.

Id. at 435-36.

Thus, in *Robb*, the Court contrasted "misfeasance" which is "active misconduct resulting in positive injury to others" with "nonfeasance," which consists of "'passive inaction or failure to take steps to protect others from harm.'" *Id.* at 436-37, *quoting, Lewis v. Krussel*, 101 Wn. App. 178, 184, 2 P.3d 486 (2000). The Court went on to hold that:

The police officers in this case did not affirmatively create a new risk when they stopped Berhe and failed to pick up the nearby shells. . . The officers failed to remove a risk

when they did not remove the shells... they did not make the risk any worse, their failure to pick up the shells was an omission, not an affirmative act, i.e., this is a case of nonfeasance.

Robb, 176 Wn.2d at 437-38. (emphasis added)

The recent case of *Washburn v. Federal Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013) does not alter this analysis. In that case, this Court held that a police officer affirmatively created a new and recognized risk of harm to the decedent by serving an anti- harassment order to the subject of the order, despite knowing that the subject would react violently and leaving the subject home alone with the victim after service of the order. This affirmative act "created a new and very real risk to [the decedent's] safety based on Kim's likely violent response to the antiharassment order and his access to [the decedent]." *Id.* at 759-60.

In this case, the appellants claim that the alleged *failure* to correctly diagnose Zamora's alleged mental illness while he was in custody falls under § 302B. The appellants seek to avoid the non-affirmative nature of this act by claiming that the Jail's contract mental health counselors did not "properly" evaluate Zamora's mental health. This despite the fact that their psychiatric expert had no opinion at his deposition about whether the mental health counselor's assessment

mental health counselors in the Skagit County Jail on two occasions and he was prescribed a mood stabilizer. The appellants claim Zamora was "deteriorating" but cite no contemporaneous record evidencing that statement. There is no evidence that Zamora was made worse or more dangerous because of these visits or the prescription of Lamictal. The illustration under comment f to § 302B explains the intended application of this section in the context of incarceration:

A, who operates a private sanitarium for the insane, receives for treatment and custody B, a homicidal maniac. Through the carelessness of one of the guards employed by A, B escapes, and attacks and seriously injures C. A may be found to be negligent toward C.

Zamora was not known to be a homicidal maniac, nor was he allowed to escape. Appellants have not cited a single case that supports their novel theory under § 302B. The alleged failure to discovery and correctly diagnose alleged mental illness and then effectively treat it, cannot be equated with affirmative acts that *creates* a *new* and recognized high risk of harm. It is alleged nonfeasance, not misfeasance.

C. Proximate Cause.

A claim for negligence also requires that the breach of a duty be a proximate cause of the claimed injury or damages. *Hartley v. State*, 103

Wn.2d 768, 777 (1985). The issue of proximate cause can be decided on summary judgment, "where reasonable minds could not differ." *Bowers v. Marzano*, 170 Wn. App. 498, 506 290 P.3d 134 (2012). There are two elements of proximate cause: cause in fact and legal causation. *Harbeson v. Parke-Davis*, *Inc.*, 98 Wn.2d 460, 474-75, 656 P.2d 483 (1983).

Cause in Fact Was Not Established.

Cause in fact is lacking if the plaintiff's injury would have occurred without defendant's breach of duty. Walker v. Transamerica Title Insurance, 65 Wn. App. 399 (1992). There is "cause-in-fact if a plaintiff's injury would not have occurred "but for" the defendant's negligence." Estate of Bordon ex rel. Anderson v. State, 122 Wn. App. 227, 240, 95 P.3d 764 (2004). When the connection between a defendant's conduct and the plaintiff's injury is too speculative and indirect, the cause in fact requirement is not met. Taggart v. State, 117 Wn.2d 195, 227 (1992). "[P]roximate cause may be a question of law for the court if the facts are undisputed, the inferences are plain and inescapable, and reasonable minds could not differ." Estate of Borden ex rel. Anderson v. State, 122 Wn. App. 227, 239, 95 P.3d 764 (2004).

In Walters v. Hampton, 14 Wn. App. 548, 556, 543 P.2d 648

(1975), the Court explained that factual causation "requires a sufficiently close, actual connection between the complained of conduct and the resulting injuries. Where inferences from the facts are remote or unreasonable, as here, factual causation is not established as a matter of law."

In cases involving harm caused by the criminal conduct of a third party brought under the "take charge" theory, the cause in fact element of proximate cause is analyzed by asking if the third party "would have been incarcerated on the day of the" act and thus unable to commit the crime. Bordon, supra 122 Wn. App. at 241. A jury cannot be left to speculate on this issue. Id. at 244. In this case, there is no evidence that would establish that any act of Skagit County was the cause in fact of appellants' damages. Prior to September 2, 2008, Skagit County had no probable cause to arrest Zamora for any reason. Appellants do not suggest otherwise. Instead, their cause in fact argument is based on a theory that the Jail should have attempted to conduct a full psychiatric evaluation of Zamora despite no legal requirement to do so. Second, that if an evaluation were attempted, Zamora would have cooperated fully, despite evidence in the record that he had no interest in being treated for mental health issues and had no record of previous cooperation. CP 2956.

Third, that a diagnosis of treatable mental illness would have been made. Again, evidence from Zamora's actual treating psychiatrists are that he never actually suffered from a "major mental illness." CP 2101. Fourth, that Zamora would have agreed to take the "right" medication, injectable or otherwise, in the Jail and continued to take it in the community. This is also contrary to the known evidence. CP 3629. Finally, that medication would have actually prevented his criminal acts. Again, his treating psychiatrists opined that his actions were the result of an antisocial personality, not major mental illness. CP 2101.

Appellants own expert was asked whether he could say on a more probable than not basis that if Zamora had been asked to see a mental health professional that: a) he would have agreed; and b) he would have cooperated. CP 3632. The expert testified that he could not say on a more probable than not basis that he would have. *Id*.

Appellants cite to *Hertog, ex rel. S.A.H. v. Seattle*, 138 Wn.2d 265, 979 P.2d 400 (1999) to argue that Zamora would have been incarcerated – and unable to harm anyone – if the Jail had evaluated him. However, the issue in Hertog was whether a probation officer should have looked at

Appellants' psychiatric expert never interviewed Zamora or reviewed his Western State Hospital treatment records. CP 2536-37.

additional treatment records that were available to him as a probation officer because those records *might* have given him evidence on which to revoke the person's probation prior to the criminal attack on the plaintiff. *Id.* at 283. The court did not find that cause in fact existed because the probation officer failed to look at the records, which had not been produced in discovery prior to the summary judgment motion, but that the existence of the records raised an issue of fact at that stage. *Id.*

Here, no similar theory is supported by the evidence. Zamora was free in the community on September 2, 2008, he was not under the county's supervision, and there was no argument made to the trial court that Skagit County could have or should have caused him to be in custody on the day in question. Cause in fact was therefore lacking and summary judgment was appropriate.

Perhaps recognizing the speculative nature of their "failure to medicate" theory, the appellants argue for the first time on appeal that the ITA could have been utilized. *Brief of Appellants*, pg. 42. First, this argument was expressly waived in the trial court. VRP 47. Appellants should not be allowed to assert it for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a). Second, there is no evidence in the record, and certainly none cited by appellants, that Zamora ever met the stringent requirements of the

ITA while in Skagit County's custody. 13

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